1940

State of Utah v. Frank R. Hill: Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

In
The Supreme Court
of the
State of Utah

STATE OF UTAH,

Plaintiff and Respondent

vs.

FRANK R. HILL,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

PROCEEDINGS UP TO THE TIME OF TRIAL

In October, 1939, complaint was filed before a justice of the peace at Delta, Millard County, Utah, charging the defendant with a felony. The complaint alleged that on the 31st of July, 1939, the defendant "did obtain 112,905 pounds of alfalfa hay of the value of \$536.30 from Dudley and Reed Crafts by means of false pretenses." (See Judgment Roll, p. 1).

A preliminary hearing was had and on October 26, 1939, defendant was bound over to the District

Court for trial. Mr. W. R. Walker, a layman, represented the defendant at this hearing. (J. R. 4).

An information in the exact language of the complaint was filed January 22, 1940. (J. R. 6). The defendant filed a motion to quash the information on the following grounds:

- (1) That the information did not state facts sufficient to constitute a public offense;
- (2) That no facts were set forth in the information from which the defendant could determine with what he was charged;
- (3) That the information did not comply with the provisions of Article I, Section XII of the Constitution of Utah;
- (4) That it did not set forth facts sufficient to enable the defendant to properly defend the action;
- (5) That it did not comply with Sec. 105-11-1, R. S. Utah, 1933;
- (6) That more than one offense was attempted to be charged;
- (7) That the language of the information "by means of false pretenses" was uncertain, indefinite and did not apprise the defendant of anything. The defendant demurred to the information upon the same grounds. (J. R. 9).

Without waiving the motion to quash, demand for a bill of particulars was duly made (J. R. 10). The bill of particulars was filed February 23, 1940. It alleged that on or about July 31, 1939, at Delta, Millard County, Utah, the complaining witness,

Dudley Crafts, had a conversation with the defendant and that Crafts asked the defendant, "Have you enough credits coming in to take care of your debts, because if you haven't I will not sell you the hay?" and that Hill replied that he had sufficient credits due to pay all bills and the amount due Crafts for the hay then about to be purchased; that upon that representation Crafts sold the defendant the hay; that the statement of defendant was false and untrue, which the defendant knew and that the defendant was at the time insolvent (J. R. 12).

After the filing of this bill of particulars, a supplemental motion to quash the information was duly made alleging the same grounds that had been set forth in the original motion; that the bill of particulars was insufficient, and that insufficient facts were set forth to enable the defendant to properly defend the action; that the facts stated did not constitute a public offense and that it could not be ascertained upon what terms the hay mentioned was sold, whether for cash or credit, and if on credit what were the terms of payment. There was also a motion to strike the bill of particulars upon the same grounds as made in the motion.

The case had been duly set for trial for February 23, 1940, at 10:00 A. M. Arguments were duly had on the motions to quash, motions to strike and the demurrer, and the district attorney stated that he would furnish a supplemental bill of particulars, which was filed at 2:00 P. M. of February 23d. After the filing of this supplemental bill of particulars, it was agreed that the supplemental motion filed against the former bill of particulars and information should be deemed to apply to the information as it stood with the supplemental bill of particulars filed. These motions were overruled.

PROCEEDINGS HAD AND EVIDENCE GIVEN AT THE TRIAL.

A trial by jury was waived, a plea of not guilty was entered. (Tr. 6-7). Objection was made by the defendant to the introduction of any testimony on the following grounds: (1) that the court had no jurisdiction of the offense attempted to be alleged; (2) that the information did not state a public offense.

Over the objection of the defendant, the bill of particulars was amended by interlineation in the following particulars: "that the above statements were not made in writing, but were made orally," and at the end of the information, the following was added: "and that the said statements of the defendant were made with the intent to cheat or defraud the said Dudley and Reed Crafts," (J. R. 17).

The same objections were made to the supplemental bill of particulars as amended. These objections were overruled, and the following proceedings were then had:

The State offered the following:

DUDLEY CRAFTS testified that in July, 1939 the defendant was engaged in buying alfalfa hay and grinding it; that on or about the 31st of July he had a conversation over the telephone with the defendant regarding the sale of the hay; that the defendant stated he wanted to buy a stack of hay, and that he (Crafts) replied that the hay belonged to his brother Reed. That that same afternoon the witness went to Hill Bros. Milling Company and told defendant that he had come down to find out just what the exact financial condition of the Hill

Bros. Milling Company was, before he could let him have the hay; that the defendant said :

“Dudley, this time we are going to tell you the truth about it. We have got outstanding accounts, good accounts, to pay every dollar we owe. You understand how it is, we send this stuff out over the country to the poultrymen and stock markets; they are slow pay, but they are good pay. We always get our money.”

Crafts replied that that was all he wanted to know; that if the company had ~~money~~ to pay for the hay, if that was true, then they could have it, and upon that representation he and Reed Crafts sold the hay; that there was something over 50 tons, and that the price was \$536.00; the defendant asked if it would be all right to pay for the hay in thirty days, the first of September, and that Crafts said yes, that would be all right (Tr. 11-12); that within the next two or three days the trucks were sent down and got the hay; that through legal proceedings he had received about \$246.00. (Tr. 14).

That the last business conducted by defendant at Delta was on the 19th of October, 1939; that at that time a committee had been appointed to take over the affairs of the company and this committee had paid some of the bills owing by the company, (Tr. 15); that in October, 1939 he had a conversation with the defendant as to the accounts receivable, and at that time defendant said the company owed approximately \$22,000.00 and had no accounts receivable (Tr.17).

CROSS - EXAMINATION:

On cross-examination, the witness testified that he had been selling hay to Hill Bros. Milling Company a corporation, since June, 1937; that the defendant

was vice-president and manager of the company; that on July 31, 1939 Mr. Hill wanted to buy some hay for the company, and that he, the witness, wanted to find out the financial condition of the company; that he asked Hill how the company stood, and that Hill stated that the company had outstanding accounts to pay every dollar that it owed; (Tr. 19) that Hill requested a thirty days' credit, and stated that the company could pay for the hay in thirty days; that it was because he had been led to believe that the company had enough money to pay every dollar it owed, that he sold the hay to the company (Tr. 20); that Mr. I. N. Parker owned half of the hay and that Reed Crafts owned a half; that he (Crafts) was selling it for them, but had no interest in it (Tr. 21).

We also sold second crop hay but that was a different transaction. The hay involved here was sold on thirty days credit.

“A. There was no payment made prior to September on this because it was not due, he had two accounts, this was on the other account, this payment was made on the second crop.

Q. Was the second crop due?

A. It was due when they got it.

Q. It was all on the first the credit was extended?

A. Yes.

Q. This credit was extended to the company on Mr. Hill's statement, as you have stated?

A. That is true.

Q. How?

A. That is true.

Q. There is no question about that?

A. There is no question about it.

Q. How?

A. No.

Q. On the representation that he made as to the financial condition of the company?

A. On the representation that he made as to the financial condition of the company, that is true."

Afterwards the committee took over the affairs of the company, and Hill promised to turn over the stock of the corporation, but never did it. Crafts brought suit against the corporation on the very account of the sale of this hay. The complaint which is verified by him and the other papers relating to it are on account of this hay. (These papers are marked Exhibit 2 and are part of the record).

Defendant's Exhibit 2, which was received in evidence, consists of the summons, writ of attachment and complaint, affidavit for attachment and execution in the case of I. R. Parker v. Hill Bros. Alfalfa Milling Company, a corporation. This was a suit for the amount due on the hay that it is claimed in this criminal proceeding was obtained by false pretenses. The hay belonged to I. R. Parker and Reed Crafts, and we brought a civil suit for Parker's part of it. Mr. Parker never assigned any of his claim to Reed Crafts and Reed Crafts never assigned any part of his to Mr. Parker (Tr. 27).

Defendant's Exhibit 1 is the statement rendered to Reed and Dudley Crafts showing the amount of hay sold, payments made and the balance due.

DARYL PEARSON testified that from July, 1938 to August of 1939 he worked for Hill Bros. Alfalfa Milling Company, that he was the secretary and treasurer of the company and also kept the books; that he made a financial statement to the board of directors as of the month of June, 1939 (Tr. 28); that he got his information from the books of the corporation. This report was marked plaintiff's Exhibit A and was introduced in evidence over the objection of the defendant. That as to the items machinery and equipment, building and land, he could not tell how they came to have the value that was placed upon them (Tr. 32). That he left the service of the company August 20, 1939 (Tr. 35); that the financial condition of the company was better by between six and eight hundred dollars July 31st than it was June 30, 1939; that he was in the office and heard the conversation between Dudley Crafts and the defendant; that Mr. Crafts wanted to know if the company was in good condition, and Mr. Hill said that the company was; that Mr. Crafts said he did not want to sell the hay to the company unless he was sure he would get his money (Tr. 42).

On cross examination, the witness testified that when Dudley Crafts came to the office, he (Crafts) wanted to know whether the business was in a condition where he wouldn't lose his money, that he said he couldn't afford to lose it and that Mr. Hill stated that the company would be able to pay for the hay in thirty days (Tr. 43).

DUDLEY CRAFTS was recalled and testified that in October of 1939 he told the defendant that when the defendant bought the hay from him (Crafts), the defendant lied to him, and that he knew he was

lying when he said they had enough money to pay every bill they owed, and that the defendant said yes, but that if he had not said that, Crafts would not have sold him the hay (Tr. 45).

It was agreed that Mr. Rulon Hinckley, Mr. Frank Roberts and Mr. Peter Gronning would testify substantially as Dudley Crafts had done as to this last conversation of October, 1939.

The foregoing constitutes all the evidence received at the trial.

Thereupon the State and defendant rested.

The defendant moved for a dismissal of the case because of a fatal variance as to the ownership of the hay; also that there was no evidence offered or given as to the solvency or insolvency of the defendant; that there was no evidence offered or given that the defendant was insolvent at the time the hay was purchased, or at any other time; that no evidence had been given whatever as to the financial condition of the defendant; that the transaction appeared to be wholly with the corporation of which the defendant was the manager (Tr. 47); that no evidence has been given which showed or tended to show that the defendant was guilty.

The court refused to pass on this motion, refused to decide the case and held that the evidence showed that the hay belonged to Reed Crafts and I. R. Parker and that Dudley Crafts had authority to sell it; that there was no evidence as to the solvency or insolvency of the defendant individually (Tr. 48).

The court then stated that if the information referred to a representation as to the financial condition of the corporation and that the hay was sold

to the corporation in reliance upon the financial condition of the corporation, that evidence had been offered to sustain such an information, but if the information referred to a representation as to the ability of the defendant individually to pay for it, *then there was no proof of the defendant's guilt*; that under the provisions of

Secs. 105-21-43 and 105-21-44, Laws of Utah, 1935,

it would be proper to direct that the bill of particulars be amended, or that a new bill of particulars be furnished which sets out the matters that the court has referred to as being proved so there will be no question as to the charge that is made against the defendant;

That proof had been offered showing obtaining property under false pretenses, but that the bill of particulars is not definite enough and does not properly cover the false pretenses which appears have been proved; that the original bill of particulars referred to this statement of the defendant which is alleged to have been a false pretense; that the original bill stated that "Hill replied that he had sufficient credits to pay all bills and the amount due Crafts for the hay;" that the supplemental bill of particulars refers to a statement that "we have enough outstanding accounts to pay every dollar that we owe." The information is silent as to the particulars of the offense so that it could refer to a statement made as to the financial condition of the company or the defendant individually.

He then ordered that the bill of particulars should be amended to show the particulars of the offense which appeared to have been proven and that the defendant could ask for a reopening of the case

so as to offer further evidence if he desired. To all such rulings the defendant duly excepted (Tr. 50).

The court then directed that the bill of particulars be amended to show that on July 31, 1939, Dudley Crafts discussed with the defendant the sale of hay which belonged to Reed Crafts and I. R. Parker, and that Dudley Crafts in the conversation said, "I want to know what your financial condition is before we let you have the hay," and that the defendant stated that the company was in good financial condition and had outstanding accounts receivable sufficient to pay all of its liabilities, and that the statement was false and was then known to the defendant to be false, and that Dudley Crafts relied upon the statement being true and in reliance sold the hay in question (Tr. 51). The State was allowed ten days in which to file this supplemental bill of particulars and on March 4, 1940, filed the said supplemental bill (J. R. 18).

PROCEEDINGS AFTER TRIAL

Afterwards, the defendant was directed to appear before the court on April 9, 1940, which he did. At that time, the defendant again moved the court to determine the case as it was at the time the State and the defendant rested, towit, February 24, 1940, and either declare the defendant guilty or not guilty. This the court refused to do (J. R. 24; Tr. 55). The court then asked the defendant if he desired to plead to the charge since the supplemental bill of particulars was filed; the defendant refused to plead, asserting there was no jurisdiction to hear any matter or proceeding on any pretended

charge set forth in the supplemental bill of particulars filed as of March 4, 1940 (Tr. 56). The court then stated that leave would be granted to the defendant to submit further evidence; the defendant stated that the court had already passed upon the evidence and had made a declaration into the record that the defendant was guilty and that in view of that statement, he felt it would be useless to offer any evidence to change the court's mind; that the court had no power or authority to proceed under the supplemental bill of particulars filed as of March 4, 1940; the court then found the defendant guilty under the supplemental bill of particulars filed as of March 4, 1940, and sentenced the defendant to from one to ten years in the State Penitentiary (J. R. 24; Tr. 57-59).

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

There are 24 assignments of error. The first six relate to the rulings of the court upholding the information and the bills of particulars. Assignments 7 to 17, each inclusive, relate to the admission of evidence. Assignment 18 relates to the refusal of the court to dismiss the case because there was no proof offered as to the guilt of the defendant. Assignments 19 and 21 relate to the supplemental bill of particulars filed March 4, 1940. No. 20 relates to the refusal of the court to decide the case upon the issues upon which the case was tried. Assignments 22 to 24, each inclusive, relate to the court's finding the defendant guilty and in sentencing the defendant to the State prison.

We will first discuss assignments 18, 20, 21, 22, 23 and 24.

ARGUMENT

I

The complaint upon which the defendant was bound over to the District Court and the information upon which he was tried were based on

Sec. 103-18-8, R. S. Utah, 1933.

The information did not set forth what the false pretenses were. The bill of particulars filed February 23, 1940 (J. R. 12) set forth that at the time and place in question in answer to the question put by the complaining witness "Have you enough credits coming in to take care of your debts?" that the defendant replied that he had sufficient credits due to pay all bills and the amount due Crafts for the hay then about to be purchased.

The supplemental bill of particulars which was filed February 23, 1940 (J. R. 17) is practically to the same effect, stating that at the time and place in question Crafts said to the defendant, "I want to know just what your financial condition is before we let you have the hay," and that he could not let the defendant have the hay unless their financial condition was such that they were sure to get their money, to which the defendant replied, "This time, Dudley, we are going to tell you the truth about it. The fact is, we have enough outstanding accounts to pay every dollar we owe."

Upon the information, the bill of particulars and the supplemental bill of particulars the trial was had. The evidence in support of those allegations has heretofore been set forth in considerable detail. Suffice it to say that on the day in question Mr. Crafts agreed to sell to Hill Brothers Alfalfa Milling Co. the hay in question; that Mr. Hill

as manager of the corporation, agreed to and did purchase it with the understanding that the company would be allowed thirty days in which to make payment; that Mr. Hill told Mr. Crafts that the company had outstanding accounts sufficient to pay for the hay within thirty days. In other words, the hay was sold to the company upon the agreement and understanding that the company would pay for it within thirty days. Although the information, aided if it could be by the bills of particulars filed February 23, 1940, charged the defendant with representing that he was financially able to pay for the hay, not a scintilla of evidence was offered as to the financial standing, ability or condition of the defendant.

There was no evidence of any kind what the financial standing of the defendant was; whether he was solvent or insolvent, affluent or penniless, wealthy or poverty-stricken, was not disclosed. Even the court, determined as he was to punish the defendant, said at the conclusion of the evidence, that "it further appears to the court that there is no evidence as to the solvency or insolvency of the defendant." (Tr. 48).

The issue to be determined by the court was whether the representation alleged to have been made by the defendant as to his solvency was true or not true; that was the issue which was tried. The State had alleged that the defendant obtained the hay upon the pretense that he, defendant, was solvent, whereas in truth and in fact the defendant was insolvent and that the representation he made as to his solvency was untrue.

There was a complete failure of proof. The State utterly failed to prove the charge against the de-

fendant, failed to prove that he made any representation as to his financial condition, failed to prove what his financial condition was. The court, having found, as he did, that there was no evidence as to the solvency or insolvency of the defendant, should have immediately found him not guilty and discharged the defendant. Instead, the court appeared determined to find him guilty of a charge upon which he had never been bound over to the District Court, upon which no issue had been made or trial had. The court apparently either did not understand what a failure of proof was, or confused failure of proof with an immaterial variance. The court apparently believed that under

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