1941

State of Utah v. Frank R. Hill: Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT I

In his first argument in support of his Assignments of Error 18, 20, 21, 22, 23, and 24, the defendant claims that the State has neither alleged in its information or Bill of Particulars, facts sufficient to constitute an offense, nor does the evidence offered at the trial show the commission of a public offense of any type whatever.

In making his argument, the defense ignores entirely the amendments in the Bill of Particulars which were ordered by the Judge following the trial. Whether or not the court was in error in directing these amendments to be made will be considered hereafter in answering defendants Assignment of Error, No. 19.

For the purpose of the present argument, let us consider the amended Bill of Particulars together with the information in determining whether or not a public offense was charged, and if so whether the evidence introduced at the trial was sufficient to prove the commission of such an offense. The information follows the form prescribed by

Sub-section (2) of Section 105-21-43, Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933, as enacted by Chapter 118, Laws of Utah, 1935, which Sub-section provides as follows:

“The following forms may be used in cases in which they are applicable.

* * * * *

“A. B. obtained an automobile from C. D. by means of false pretenses.”

The information in this case alleges “That the said Frank Hill on or about the 31st day of July, 1939, at Delta, Millard County, State of Utah, did obtain 112,905 pounds of alfalfa seed of the value of \$536.30 from Dudley and Reed Crafts by means of false pretenses.” The amended Bill of Particulars sets forth the nature of the false pretenses which were, in effect, that the defendant obtained the hay in question from Dudley Crafts for Hill Brothers’ Alfalfa Milling Corporation, a corporation, of which he was vice-president and general manager, by representing orally to said Dudley Crafts that said Corporation had enough outstanding accounts to pay every dollar they owed.

The Bill of Particulars further alleges that said representation was untrue as the company was at that time insolvent, all of which the defendant well knew, and that the representations which he made were made with the intent to cheat and defraud Dudley Crafts, through whom the hay was purchased, and Reed Crafts and I. R. Parker, who owned the hay.

The evidence presented at the trial in support of the allegations thus made showed that the defendant approached

Dudley Crafts relative to purchasing the hay, and that Dudley Crafts informed the defendant that unless the company was in good shape financially they could not have the hay. The evidence further shows that the defendant represented that they had outstanding accounts sufficient to pay every dollar which they, the corporation, owed. The financial statement which was offered and accepted in evidence showed that far from having enough accounts to pay everything they owed, the corporation was actually insolvent; its accounts totaling \$3,664.78, whereas, the corporation owed \$16,472.42 on June 30th when the last financial statement was rendered. According to the testimony of the Secretary-Treasurer and bookkeeper of the corporation, it had no more assets, and only \$600 to \$800 less in liabilities a month later when the representation complained of was made.

The evidence further showed that the defendant later in the presence of Dudley Crafts and three other witnesses, admitted that he had lied regarding the financial standing of the Company at the time he made the representations upon which he obtained the hay from Dudley Crafts, and further admitted that he made the representations because he knew that if he told the truth Crafts would be unwilling to let him have the hay.

Defendant bases most of his first argument upon the proposition that it is not a fraudulent misrepresentation within the meaning of this statute for the defendant to promise to pay for the hay and then fail to do so, and

he cites numerous cases in support of this proposition. The State agrees that these cases state the law on the subject, and that a mere failure to keep a promise to pay does not constitute obtaining property by false representation even though the person obtaining the property had agreed to pay.

This argument of the defendant and the cases cited in support thereof, however, have no bearing on the case at issue. The State does not base its case upon the fact that the defendant failed to keep his promise to pay for the hay. The failure to pay has no connection with the case except as to the evidentiary bearing it may have upon the question of good faith and intent to defraud.

The defendant in his brief says: "The purchase of goods on the promise to pay in the future is not a false pretense. A false pretense is a misrepresentation as to an existing fact or past event, and not a mere promise to do something in the future, or a misrepresentation as to something to take place in the future."

The defendant here did make a misrepresentation as to an existing fact, namely, the financial condition of the Hill Brothers Alfalfa Milling Corporation, and it was on the basis of this false representation that he obtained the property in question. This property would not have been turned over to him on his mere promise to pay, as he well knew, as is evidenced by his admission made on the 18th of October, 1939.

25 CJ 594 says in this regard:

"While the crime is not committed by mere false promise without a false statement of fact, a

false statement of fact may become effective only by being coupled with a false promise. When this is the case, the statement of fact and the promise may be considered as together constituting the false pretenses and a conviction may follow, or, if the statement of fact and promise can be separated and prosecutor relied in part on the former, the promise may be destroyed and accused be convicted on the statement of fact."

See *Donohue vs. State*, (Arkansas) 26 S.W. 226; *People vs. Bowman*, (California) 142 Pac. 495; *Watson vs. People*, 87 New York, 561; *State vs. Hollingsworth*, (Iowa), 109 N.W. 1003, *Commonwealth vs. Drew*, (Mass.), 27 N.E. 593.

The defendant cites the case of *State vs. Howd*, 56 Utah 527, in support of his position. This case, however, has no bearing upon the case at issue. In that case Howd purchased cattle from one Foy, and promised to pay for them in the future.

There was no evidence of any misrepresentation as to a present or past fact. The court there stated, "All that can be gathered from the record of the testimony is to the effect that defendant purchased Foy's cattle at Thompson, Utah; that he there paid to Foy a part of the purchase price, and promised to pay the balance upon the arrival of the cattle at Grand Junction, Colorado, a promise to be performed in the future."

In this case, however, we have a definite misrepresentation as to a *present existing fact*.

The Court in *State vs. Howd* sets out four elements

which must be proved in order to convict a person of obtaining property by false pretenses. These are:

- “1. There must be an intent to cheat or defraud.
- “2. An actual fraud must be committed.
- “3. It must be a fraudulent representation or false pretense for the purpose of perpetrating the fraud, and obtaining the property of another.
- “4. The fraudulent representations or false pretenses must be the cause which induced the owner to part with his property.”

In regard to the first element, we can determine the defendant's intention to cheat or defraud only by his actions in the matter. We know from the evidence which is not contradicted that he did make false statements as to the financial condition of his company, that he did obtain property thereby, and that he failed to pay for such property. As a man is presumed to intend the ordinary consequences of his wrongful act, and as the consequence of this act was to cheat and defraud the owners of the hay, there can be no question, especially in view of the defendant's admissions that there was, on his part, an intent to cheat or defraud.

The Supreme Court of Wisconsin in *State vs. Hintz*, 229 N.W. 55, said:

“While the intent to defraud is an essential element of the crime of obtaining property by false pretenses and must be proved by the State, it need not be proved by direct and positive evidence. It may be inferred from all the circumstances proved. Where all the other elements of the crime were proved, it is generally held that the intent to defraud may be inferred from the circumstances proved.”

See *State vs. Loesch*, 180 S.W. 875; *State vs. Cooper*, 151 N.W. 835; *State vs. Hooker*, 170 Pac. 374.

In regard to the second element, the evidence shows that there was an actual fraud committed in that by a false statement, which the defendant well knew was false, he obtained property of another, for which property he did not pay.

In regard to the third element, the fraudulent representation stands out clear in the evidence and requires no comment. Nor is there any doubt as to the fourth element, for Crafts stated in his testimony that he would not part with the hay unless the financial condition of the company was acceptable, and the defendant also testified that he knew that Crafts would not part with the hay unless he falsified as to the financial standing of the company. The evidence introduced in the trial clearly shows, therefore, that a public offense was committed.

“False representation as to financial ability or pecuniary condition of the accused or of a third person are within the statute in its usual form unless they are mere expressions of opinion.”

25 *Corpus Juris* 596.

See *People vs. Jordan*, (California), 4 Pac. 773; *State vs. Timmins*, 58 Ind. 98. *State vs. Donaldson*, 148 S.W. 79.

Defendant further contends in this section of his argument that even if the evidence does show the commission of a public offense, it is an entirely different offense from that charged in the information, and so the defendant should not have been convicted.

The argument to sustain this position appears rather strained. The crime with which the defendant was charged was the crime of obtaining property by false pretenses, and the crime of which he was convicted was the crime of obtaining property by false pretenses. The defendant's argument that under this theory a person could be charged with murder and found guilty of arson is without ground. The variance between the information and the first Bill of Particulars and the evidence introduced at the trial were merely as to minor matters not going with the essence of the offense. This matter, however, will be considered in greater length in answering defendant's Assignment of Error No. 19 which was to the effect that the court did not have the right to order the Bill of Particulars amended to conform to the evidence.

The defendant in his argument maintains that because the Legislature by Section 103-18-9, Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933, made it a misdemeanor to make a false statement in writing respecting the financial condition or ability to pay of himself or any other person, firm or corporation in whom he is interested, it is by implication provided that no oral statement is actionable even though it might come within the terms of Section 103-18-8, Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933. This contention appears to be highly illogical. Because the Legislature has seen fit to pass a specific statute does not mean that all cases which have a similarity in any respect to the specific case would be removed from the operation of the general statute. The defendant would, no doubt, contend under this theory that if

the Legislature passed a specific act making it a felony for a person to kill another person with a knife that it would not be actionable to kill a person with a gun in spite of the general homicide statute.

It does not appear logical that it was ever the intention of the Legislature to permit such rascality as has been practiced by the defendant in this case to go unpunished.

This point is covered in *Commonwealth vs. Lavine* (Mass.), 181 N.E. 851, at page 856. The court said:

“The defendant’s contention that the statements about the corporation were, at most, only false representation with regard to the credit of the Massachusetts Thread Mills, Incorporated, and so under G. L., c 266, No. 35, since they were not in writing do not support an indictment, is not sound. That statute furnishes no protection to one who makes false statements as to the character, credit and ability of another in order that the speaker may obtain something for himself through reliance placed upon the misrepresentation.”

The Legislature, no doubt, placed the provision in regard to written misrepresentation in the statute because of the fact that falsification of facts in written applications for credit are quite frequently made by persons applying for credit at stores, and it was believed that the felony penalty was too severe in such cases, as such mercantile institutions have ample opportunity to check credit ratings. The worst frauds, however, are usually perpetrated not by written misrepresentations but by word of mouth. O. Henry’s Gentle Grafter and the legendary characters who sell “gold bricks”

at county fairs and the Brooklyn Bridge to New York visitors as well as the more realistic swindlers who sell watered stock and citrus groves which, at high tide, prove to be below water level, practice their "art" by means of oral representations.

Certainly, it could not have been the intention of the Legislature to permit persons to make such representation with immunity and the law should not be so construed.

22 Am. Juris 452 says:

"It would certainly seem, however, that a law which punishes a man for obtaining property by means of willful misrepresentation or deliberate falsehood does not establish a rule of morality which can be deemed too rigid for honest men. Moreover, it has been judicially recognized that to cramp the operation of such laws with artificial restrictions would tend to encourage fraud and swindling and it has also been suggested that since the purpose of the statutes against false pretense is to suppress cheating they should be construed liberally so as to effectuate that purpose."

See *State vs. Stove*, (S. C.) 79, S. E. 108; 49 L. R. A. W. S. 514; *Com. vs. Watson* (Ky.) 142 S. W. 200.

ARGUMENT II

In his second argument which is in support of Assignment of Error No. 19, the defendant attacks the order of the court, directing the filing of a supplemental Bill of Particulars after the trial of the case. He charges that in view of the fact that the Bill of Particulars was amended as

to some matters following the trial of the action, it necessarily follows that the defendant was not properly bound over to the District Court to stand trial for the charge upon which he was ultimately convicted.

In making this charge the defendant ignores entirely certain statements made later in his brief to the effect that the Bill of Particulars is no part of the information and does not change the nature of the offense that is charged. The State agrees with this position and with the two Utah cases, *State vs. Solomon*, 93 Utah 70 and *State vs. Jessup*, 98 Utah 482, which hold to this effect.

The State agrees further with the defendant's statement made later in his brief that the information itself, separate and apart from the Bill of Particulars, must state a cause of action. This being true, how could any amendment to the Bill of Particulars change the nature of the offense? The record shows that the complaint which was filed in the Justice's Court and upon which a preliminary hearing was conducted, charged the defendant with the commission of the crime of obtaining property by false pretenses as follows: "That the said Frank R. Hill, at the time and place last aforesaid, did obtain 112,905 pounds of alfalfa hay of the value of \$536.30 from Dudley and Reed Crafts by means of false pretenses." The information which was filed by the District Attorney charges the offense as follows: "That the said Frank R. Hill, on or about the 30th day of July, 1939, at Delta, County of Millard, State of Utah, did obtain 112,905 pounds of alfalfa hay of a value

of \$536.30 from Dudley and Reed Crafts by means of false pretenses." The question as to whether or not the complaint and the information which was based thereon state a cause of action standing by themselves, separate and apart from the Bill of Particulars, will be considered at greater detail later in the brief when answering defendant's argument No. 3 in support of Assignments of Error No. 1 to No. 6.

The purpose of the Bill of Particulars, as stated before, is not to aid the information in stating a cause of action but to inform the defendant regarding the facts which the state will prove in support of such information in order that the defendant may have an opportunity to prepare to meet the evidence introduced by the State. Section 105-21-9, Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933, as enacted by Chapter 118 of Laws of Utah, 1935, reads in part as follows:

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